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Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) respectfully submits this opposition to the 

motions to dismiss of Alternatel, Inc., G.F.G. Enterprises LLC, also d/b/a Mystic Prepaid, Voice 

Prepaid, Inc., Voice Distributors, Inc., Telecom Express, Inc., Moses Greenfield, Nickolas 

Gulakos, Lucas Friedlaender, and Frank Wendorff (collectively “Defendants”).1 

INTRODUCTION2 
 

On May 23, 2008, the Court issued a temporary restraining order (“TRO”) upon notice to 

Defendants and after a hearing in which all parties appeared.  In granting the TRO, the Court 

found that there was good cause to believe that Defendants:  (1) misrepresent the number of 

calling minutes that their prepaid calling cards will provide in calls to specific countries; and (2) 

fail to disclose, or to adequately disclose, fees that reduce the value of Defendants’ prepaid 

calling cards, TRO [D.E. 25], Findings, ¶ 3.  In their motions to dismiss, Defendants do not 

dispute the overwhelming evidence of wrongdoing on which the Court’s findings are based.  

Instead, they rehash the argument they made at the TRO hearing:  that the FTC’s lawsuit cannot 

proceed because the FTC has not and cannot name as defendants the companies that provide 

telecommunications service for Defendants’ calling cards.  According to Defendants, such 

companies must be joined under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 19, but cannot be, because the 

FTC Act does not apply to “common carriers subject to the Acts to regulate commerce,” 15 

U.S.C. § 45(a)(2), which includes the Communications Act of 1934.  15 U.S.C. § 44.  In granting 

                                                 
1 Alternatel and Moses Greenfield jointly moved to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(7), 



 2

the TRO, the Court soundly rejected this argument.  As explained below, Defendants’ current 

motion provides no justification for the Court to reach a different conclusion now.   

Alternatel also seeks dismissal of the case on the basis that it has, after the Court issued 

the TRO, entered into an “Assurance of Voluntary Compliance” with the Florida Attorney 

General.  However, such voluntary discontinuation of challenged conduct does not deprive a 

court of subject matter jurisdiction unless the defendant shows that it is absolutely clear that 

there is no reasonable possibility that the unlawful conduct will recur.  Alternatel cannot make 

such a showing in light of the egregious nature of its violations of the FTC Act, its brazen 

disregard for the law while under investigation by the Florida Attorney General, and its and the 

other defendants’ disregard of this Court’s TRO.  

Finally, Defendants incorrectly assert that the Complaint should be dismissed under 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6).  The crux of Defendants’ argument is that the 

Complaint fails to make sufficiently individualized allegations against each defendant.  As 

explained below, the Eleventh Circuit has rejected just such an argument.  Nor can Defendants 

demonstrate that the Complaint fails to provide adequate notice to them of the FTC’s claim that 

they should be held jointly and severally liable under the common enterprise doctrine. 

Accordingly, the Court should deny Defendants’ motions to dismiss. 

ARGUMENT 

I. DEFENDANTS HAVE FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE COMMON CARRIERS 
ARE NECESSARY OR INDISENSABLE PARTIES. 

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 19, which governs the mandatory joinder of 

nonparties, courts employ a two-part test.  “The first question,” under Rule 19(a), is whether the 

nonparty is “necessary,” i.e., “whether complete relief can be afforded in the present procedural 

posture, or whether the nonparty’s absence will impede either the nonparty’s protection of an 
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interest at stake or subject parties to a risk of inconsistent obligations.”  U.S. v. Rigel Ship 

Agencies, Inc., 432 F.3d 1282, 1291 (11th Cir. 1999) (internal quotation and citation omitted).  If 

a court concludes the nonparty is not necessary, that is the end of the inquiry.  Id.  If, however, 

the nonparty should be joined but cannot be (such as where the nonparty is beyond the court’s 

jurisdiction), then the court must inquire whether, applying the factors in Rule 19(b), the 

litigation may continue nonetheless, or whether the nonparty is “indispensable.”  See, e.g., 

Challenge Homes, Inc. v. Greater Naples Care Ctr., 669 F.2d 667, 669 (11th Cir. 1982).  

Defendants erroneously assert that the FTC has the burden of disproving the need to join an 

absent party.  Alternatel Br. [D.E. 48] at 8 n.5.  In fact, under Rule 19, it is the movant that bears 

the burden of proving that a nonparty must be joined.  See W. Peninsular Title Co. v. Palm Beach 

Cnty., 41 F.3d 1490, 1492 (11th Cir. 1995); BFI Waste Sys. of N. Am., Inc. v. Broward Cnty., 209 

F.R.D. 509, 514 (S.D. Fla. 2002); Ship Const. & Funding Servs. (USA), Inc. v. Star Cruises PLC, 

174 F. Supp. 2d 1320, 1325 (S.D. Fla. 2001). 

A. Defendants Have Failed to Show That The Common Carriers Are Necessary. 

Defendants have failed to show that the common carriers that provide 

telecommunications service for Defendants’ prepaid calling cards (hereinafter “carriers”) must 

be joined under Rule 19(a).  This case concerns Defendants’ violations of Section 5 of the FTC 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), through Defendants’ advertising of Defendants’ calling cards.  The 

Court has found the FTC is likely to succeed in establishing that Defendants have engaged in 

deceptive acts and practices in violation of the FTC Act by:  (1) misrepresenting the number of 

calling minutes provided by their cards; and (2) failing to adequately disclose the fees and 

charges associated with their cards.  TRO [D.E. 25], Findings, ¶ 3. 
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The advertisement appearing in DFPL-002209 represents a unique 
circumstance in which Dollar Phone participated in the 
development of promotional material.5 

Defendants erroneously assert that “[m]uch of the conduct that the FTC charges,” such as 

the call rates and surcharges and fees, “is the conduct of the telecommunications carriers.”  

Alternatel Br. at 4.  In fact, the FTC does not challenge the legality of the fees that are imposed 

or the rates that are charged, but, rather, challenges Defendants’ deceptive affirmative claims 

about calling rates (i.e., the number of calling minutes) and their failure to disclose adequately 

surcharges and fees associated with their cards.  To illustrate, the Complaint does not allege that 

it is unlawful to sell a calling card that provides 24 minutes of calling time to Guatemala, but, 

rather, that Defendants have violated the FTC Act by advertising that a calling card will provide 

52 minutes of calling time to Panama, when it delivers only 24 minutes.  Compl. [D.E. 1] ¶ 44.  

To remedy this deceptive conduct, the Complaint seeks:  (1) a permanent injunction enjoining 

future deceptive behavior by Defendants in marketing prepaid calling cards; and (2) equitable 

monetary relief from Defendants. 

The dispositive question is whether the Court can provide complete relief “among 

existing parties.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 19(a)(1).  In making this determination, “‘pragmatic concerns, 

especially the effect on the parties and the litigation,’ control.”  Challenge Homes, Inc. v. 

Greater Naples Care Ctr., 669 F.2d 667, 669 (11th Cir. 1982) (citation omitted).  Defendants 

                                                 
5 Letter from Mary Ellen Callahan to Florida Attorney General, dated Mar. 13, 2008, FTC Ex. 
10, Att. A, p. 4 (emphasis added).  See also FTC Ex. 1, ¶ 41, Att. AA, pp. 358-60 (Abraham 
Greenfield, Dollar Phone executive and brother of Moses Greenfield, testifying that Dollar 
Phone’s distributors, not Dollar Phone, typically design and create calling cards and posters); 
Att. BB, pp. 416-17 (counsel for Moses Greenfield in this action, explaining to a federal court, in 
the course of his representation of Dollar Phone, Dollar Phone’s limited role in marketing cards 
distributed by Voice Prepaid and other companies). 
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have offered no legitimate reason why, without joinder of Dollar Phone or the other carriers, the 

Court cannot provide the relief sought by the Complaint, or why this relief will be incomplete.6  

Their chief argument is that the carriers are the true “bad actors” here, and thus that any order 

against Defendants will be ineffective.  Alternatel Br. at 5.  Defendants have failed to offer a 

shred of evidence in support of this assertion, which rings hollow in light of incriminating e-

mails that show Defendants are a driving force behind the deceptive marketing of their cards.7  

That is not to say that Dollar Phone and other carriers are not also involved in the deceptive 

conduct.  They may well be.  But that would merely make them akin to joint tortfeasors.  And, 

“[i]t has long been the rule that it is not necessary for all joint tortfeasors to be named as 

defendants in a single lawsuit.”  Temple v. Synthes Corp., 498 U.S. 5, 7 (1990) (per curiam) 

(citations omitted).  “The Advisory Committee Notes to Rule 19(a) explicitly state that ‘a 

tortfeasor with the usual “joint-and-several” liability is merely a permissive party to an action 

against another with like liability.’”  Id. (citations omitted); see also MS Dealer Serv. Corp. v. 

Franklin, 177 F.3d 942, 946 (11th Cir. 1999) (citing cases).   

 Likewise, Defendants’ contention that the Court cannot provide effective relief because 

“the same cards” could be sold by “other distributors not party to this action” is unavailing.  
                                                 
6 Notably, Defendants have not asserted that the other criteria under Rule 19(a)(2) have been 
met, i.e., that a nonparty claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated 
that disposing of the action may:  (i) as a practical matter impede or impair the absent person’s 
ability to protect that interest; or (ii) leave an existing party subject to a substantial risk of 
double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations because of the interest.  Accordingly, the 
FTC does not address these factors in this brief. 
7 FTC Ex. 1, ¶ 42, Att. EE, p. 494 (e-mail from Friedlaender to CVT, a telecommunications 
carrier, in which he wrote “24" delivered?  Or prompted? if it’s 24" delivered, let’s put 36" on 
poster.  If it’s only delivering 18" then 32".”) (emphasis added); FTC Ex. 1, ¶ 42, Att. EE, p. 
499 (e-mail from CVT to Gulakos saying “I have no problem increasing the Poster minutes for 
D.R. but I [sic] going to need to keep the delivered minutes the same –– let me know if you’re ok 
with that,” to which Gulakos made no objection) (emphasis added). 

Case 1:08-cv-21433-AJ   Document 74   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/21/2008   Page 7 of 23



 7

Alternatel Br. at 5.  First, this assertion is perplexing because Defendants have offered no 

evidence that other distributors are creating advertisements for Defendants’ cards.  To the extent, 

however, that Defendants mean to suggest that the FTC cannot take action against them unless it 

stops all unlawful conduct in the prepaid calling card industry, they are mistaken.  Rule 19 does 

not preclude law enforcers from suing individual law violators unless they sue every unlawful 

actor; if it did, law enforcement would grind to a halt.8 

 In sum, the carriers are not necessary parties under Rule 19(a).  By definition, they are, 

therefore, also not indispensable under Rule 19(b). 

B. Defendants Have Failed to Show That The Carriers Are Indispensable. 

Even if the carriers were necessary and could not be joined,9 equity and good conscience 

would not dictate dismissal of this action.  To the contrary, the public interest in halting 

Defendants’ unlawful conduct mandates that this case proceed.  

Under Rule 19(b), the Court must decide whether, “in equity and good conscience,” the 

case may proceed with the existing parties, based on its consideration of the following: 

                                                 
8 Nor is there any relevance or merit to Defendants’ assertion that the TRO, or any permanent 
injunction that may issue, will be ineffective because it cannot bind the carriers.  Alternatel Br. at 
5-6.  Although the issue is not ripe, it is worth noting that, under Rule 65, every injunction binds 
any person with “actual notice” of the injunction that is “in active concert or participation” with 
the parties or the parties’ officers, agents, servants, employees, or attorneys.  FED. R. CIV. P. 
65(d)(2)(C).  The Court’s power to enforce an injunction against such nonparties derives from its 
inherent authority to prevent a defendant from nullifying its orders by c.9(enle)4yvance o3ou(om)]Trs a6BeTj
/T0.ted
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(1) the extent to which a judgment rendered in the person’s absence might 
prejudice that person or the existing parties; 
(2) the extent to which any prejudice could be lessened or avoided by:  (A) 
protective provisions in the judgment; (B) shaping the relief; or (C) other 
measures;  
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will have an adequate remedy if the action is dismissed, it is whether the plaintiff — here, the 

FTC — will have an adequate remedy if a case is dismissed.  In any event, the theoretical 

possibility of legal action by the FCC against the carriers is not an adequate substitute for the 

FTC’s case against Defendants for their unlawful conduct.  Nor is the Florida settlement, which 

names only Alternatel, affects only marketing directed at Florida consumers or that arises in 

Florida, and does not provide restitution or disgorgement, an adequate substitute for the final 

relief sought here:  a nationwide injunction against all defendants and an order requiring payment 

of restitution and/or disgorgement.  Thus, equity and good conscience not only permit, but 

require, that this case proceed. 

C. Defendants Are Not Common Carriers And Cannot Escape Liability for 
Their Deceptive Practices Under The Common Carrier Exemption to the 
FTC Act. 

As noted above, he FTC Act does not apply to “common carriers subject to the Acts to 

regulate commerce,” 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(2), which includes the Communications Act of 1934, as 

amended, 15 U.S.C. § 44.  Defendants admit that they are not common carriers,10 but argue that 

they are “so intertwined with the underlying carrier” th
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under the common carrier exemption to the FTC Act, despite their admission that they are not 

common carriers.  There is no legal basis for this remarkable proposition.   

To the contrary, the Second Circuit has rejected the argument that a non-common carrier 

that acts in concert with a common carrier is exempt from the FTC Act.  See FTC v. Verity Int’l, 

Ltd., 443 F.3d 48, 58-59 (2d Cir. 2006) (holding that involvement of common carriers in 

unlawful billing scheme did not exempt non-common carrier defendants from FTC Act).  

Ignoring this precedent, Defendants incorrectly assert that they should be exempt from the FTC 

Act because the FCC has “used its jurisdiction to protect consumers and regulate the prepaid 

calling card industry both with regard to distributors and telecommunications carriers.”  

Alternatel Br. at 7.  However, all the prepaid calling card decisions cited by Defendants in which 

the FCC has exercised jurisdiction involved companies that, unlike Defendants, provided the 

telecommunications service for the calling cards.  Alternatel Br. at 7, 9-10.12  Further, Defendants 

erroneously assert that Blackstone Calling Card, Inc., 22 FCC Rcd 13031 (Enf. Bureau 2007), 

“indicat[ed] the FCC’s authority to issue citations and forfeitures against prepaid calling card 

distributors.”  Alternatel Br. at 10.  In fact, Blackstone reached the opposite conclusion:  

Blackstone held that, because a prepaid calling card distributor did not provide the 

telecommunications service for its cards, it was not subject to FCC regulatory 

obligations.  22 FCC Rcd at 13032, ¶ 4.13 

                                                 
12 Indeed, these cases all involved “prepaid calling card providers,” which the FCC has defined 
as “any entity that provides telecommunications service to consumers through the use of a 
prepaid calling card.”  47 C.F.R. § 64.5000.  Thus, Defendants do not meet the FCC’s definition 
of “prepaid calling card providers.”  
13 In addition, the Communications Act provides that a telecommunications carrier “shall be 
treated as a common carrier under this Act only to the extent that it is engaged in providing 
telecommunications service.”  47 U.S.C. § 153(44) (emphasis added). 
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extent they are directed at Florida consumers or arise from Alternatel’s promotion of cards 

originating from Florida.  Ex. A to Alternatel Mot. to Dismiss, ¶ 87.19  The FTC, by contrast, 

seeks a nationwide injunction.  Likewise, under the Assurance of Voluntary Compliance, 

Alternatel merely has agreed that Alternatel’s violations of the settlement will be prima facie 

evidence of a violation of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, should the 

Florida Attorney General initiate such a suit.  Id. ¶ 89.  This aspect of the agreement, moreover, 

applies only to violations that occur in the first four years the Assurance of Voluntary 

Compliance is in effect.  Id.  A permanent injunction, by contrast, would last indefinitely and, if 

violated, would put Alternatel in contempt of court.  See Am. Credit Sys., 874 F. Supp. at 1087 

(where prohibition on challenged conduct did not carry penalty of contempt of court, FTC’s 

claim for injunction was not moot).  Given these limitations to the Assurance of Voluntary 

Compliance, Alternatel cannot demonstrate that it is absolutely clear that there is no reasonable 

possibility that its deceptive conduct will recur. 

In addition, the Eleventh Circuit has instructed courts to consider three factors that 

strongly counsel against a finding that the FTC’s claims against Alternatel are moot.  First, the 

Eleventh Circuit has held that courts should consider “whether the challenged conduct was 

isolated or unintentional, as opposed to a continuing and deliberate practice.”  Sheely, 505 F.3d 

at 1184.  Here, the evidence shows that Alternatel and the other defendants engaged in a pattern 

of egregious violations of the FTC Act, by routinely misrepresenting the number of calling 

minutes their calling cards provide and failing to adequately disclose the fees and charges 

                                                 
19 Alternatel admits that it currently has two clients with retail stores outside Florida.  Aff. of 
Frank Wendorff [D.E. 49] ¶ 2.  What is more, Alternatel is not barred from expanding its 
business outside Florida.   
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fees or charges that will be assessed in connection with use of such Prepaid Calling Card.”  TRO 

[D.E. 25] at 5.  Despite this clear mandate in the TRO, the Monitor has reported that Alternatel 

and the other defendants have taken no steps to halt the sale to consumers of their prepaid calling 

cards containing the very inadequate disclosures at issue in the FTC’s TRO motion where such 

cards had already been sent to sub-distributors or retailers when the TRO was entered.  See First 

Report of Monitor [D.E. 53] at 8; see also id. at 6 n.2, 13.  As a consequence, consumers who 

purchase Alternatel’s and the other defendants’ calling cards have apparently continued to be 

charged fees that Defendants have failed to adequately disclose.21  In addition, the Monitor also 

has reported (and the FTC concurs) that Alternatel’s and the other defendants’ new disclosures 

suffer many of the same deficiencies as their original disclosures, and, thus, violate the TRO.  

See First Report of Monitor at 9-10, 13.  Alternatel’s failure to comply with the TRO — which 

had already been in effect 40 days as of the filing of the Monitor’s report — coupled with its 
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General from suing it, i.e., to avoid liability, rather than due to a “genuine change of heart” about 

the importance of dealing honestly with consumers.   

Third, the Eleventh Circuit has directed courts to consider “whether, in ceasing the 

conduct, the defendant has acknowledged liability.”  Sheely, 505 F.3d at 1184.  In the Assurance 

of Voluntary Compliance, Alternatel expressly denies “any wrongdoing or liability of any kind 

whatsoever arising from the sale, distribution, marketing, promotion and/or servicing of Prepaid 

Calling Cards.”  Ex. A to Alternatel Mot. to Dismiss, ¶ 78.  The Eleventh Circuit has held that 

such a failure by a defendant to acknowledge wrongdoing “ensures that a live dispute between 

the parties remains.”  Sheely, 505 F.3d at 1187.22 

III. THE COMPLAINT SATISFIES RULES 8 AND 12(B)(6). 

For their final argument, Defendants assert that the FTC’s Complaint must be dismissed 

under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief may 

be granted.  Alternatel Br. at 17-20.  This argument lacks any merit.  

In considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, courts must “accept[] all well-pleaded factual 

allegations as true” and draw “all inferences to be drawn therefrom, in the light most favorable to 

the plaintiff.”  Weissman v. Nat’l Ass’n of Secs. Dealers, Inc., 468 F.3d 1306, 1310 (11th Cir. 

2006).  As Defendants acknowledge, Alternatel Br. at 19, Rule 12(b)(6) must be read in 

conjunction with Rule 8, which requires only a “short and plain statement showing that the 

pleader is entitled to relief.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 8(a)(2).  Rule 8 further dictates that “[e]ach 

                                                 
22 Gulakos and Friedlaender erroneously assert that, if the FTC’s 
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sense where, as here, the corporate defendants are alleged to engage in the same deceptive 

conduct and to operate as a common enterprise.  It would be wholly redundant (and would serve 

no purpose) for the Complaint to contain identical paragraphs for each of the corporate 

defendants alleging that, for example, each company markets calling cards, falsely represents the 

number of calling minutes, and fails to adequately disclose the cards’ fees and charges.23 

B. The Complaint Properly Alleges A Common Enterprise. 

Defendants’ assertion that the Complaint fails to adequately allege a common enterprise 

is also unavailing.  “When determining whether a common enterprise exists, courts look to a 

variety of factors, including:  common control, the sharing of office space and officers, whether 

business is transacted through ‘a maze of interrelated companies,’ the commingling of corporate 

funds and failure to maintain separation of companies, unified advertising, and evidence which 

‘reveals that no real distinction existed between the Corporate Defendants.’”  FTC v. Wolf, No. 

94-8119-Civ-Ferguson, 1996 WL 812940, at *7 (S.D. Fla. Jan. 31, 1996) (citations omitted).  

                                                 
23 Defendants erroneously assert that the Complaint must allege each individual defendant’s own 
“wrongdoing.”  Alternatel Br. at 18 n.8.  Under the FTC Act, an individual defendant is liable for 
injunctive relief if he “directly participated” in a corporate defendant’s unlawful practices or 
“had authority to control” the corporate defendant.  E.g., FTC v. Bay Area Bus. Council, 423 
F.3d 627, 636 (7th Cir. 2005); FTC v. Freecom Comm’cns, Inc., 401 F.3d 1192, 1203 (10th Cir. 
2005).  “An individual’s status as a corporate officer gives rise to a presumption of ability to 
control a small, closely-held corporation.”  FTC v. Transnet Wireless Corp., 506 F. Supp. 2d 
1247, 1270 (S.D. Fla. 2007) (internal quotations and citation omitted).  In this regard, the 
Complaint alleges that each individual defendant has (1) served as an officer of one or more of 
the corporate defendants, and (2) “formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, 
or participated in the acts and practices” of the corporate defendants alleged in the complaint.  
Compl. ¶¶ 9-12.  The Complaint thus states a claim for an injunction against the individual 
defendants.  To obtain restitution or disgorgement from the individual defendants, the FTC will 
be required to prove that they “knew or should have known” that the corporate defendants 
engaged in the wrongful conduct.  See, e.g., FTC v. Publ’g Clearing House, Inc., 104 F.3d 1168, 
1171 (9th Cir. 1996).  The allegations that the corporate defendants routinely engaged in 
deceptive practices while the individual defendants were at the helm of these companies gives 
rise to the reasonable inference that they knew or should have known of the deceptive practices. 
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Courts, however, do not require the existence of each and every one of these factors in finding a 

common enterprise.  Instead, “‘the pattern and framework of the whole enterprise must be taken 

into consideration.’”  Nat’l Urological Group, 2008 WL 2414317, at *6 (citation omitted). 

Moreover, at the pleading stage, there is no requirement that a complaint set forth every 

fact indicating that corporations operate as a common enterprise.  To the contrary, a complaint is 

sufficient so long as it puts the opposing party on notice of the claim.  Swierkiewicz, 534 U.S. at 

512-13.  The FTC’s Complaint’s allegation that the corporate defendants “have operated as a 

common business enterprise while engaging in the deceptive acts and practices alleged in this 

complaint,” Compl. ¶ 13, provides fair notice to Defendants that the FTC seeks to hold them 

jointly and severally liable under the common enterprise doctrine.  In addition, the FTC’s 

Complaint alleges that the corporate defendants (1) have common ownership and control, 

Compl. ¶¶ 9-12,24 and (2) sell and market nearly identical calling cards under the same brand 

names, Compl. ¶ 22, i.e., sell cards using shared trademarks and copyrights.  Allegations of such 

common ownership and control and shared use of corporate assets create the reasonable 

inference that the corporate defendants are, despite their nominal separation, operating as a 

common enterprise.  No further allegations are required.  See FTC v. AmeriDebt, Inc., 343 F. 

                                                 
24 Specifically, the Complaint alleges that:  (1) Gulakos is the founder, sole owner, and President 
of Voice Prepaid, Compl. ¶ 11, (2) he and Greenfield jointly own Alternatel, (3) both serve as 
officers of Alternatel, and (4) both own and serve as officers of Mystic Prepaid.  Compl. ¶¶ 9-11.  
The Complaint further alleges that Friedlaender is both an owner and officer of Mystic Prepaid 
and the Controller of Voice Prepaid.  Compl. ¶ 9.  Likewise, the Complaint alleges that Wendorff 
is the President and Chief Operating Officer of Alternatel.  Compl. ¶ 12.  The Complaint also 
alleges that these four individual defendants “formulated, directed, [and] controlled . . . the acts 
and practices of Alternatel, Mystic Prepaid, and Voice Prepaid, including the acts and practices 
alleged in this complaint.”  Compl. ¶¶ 9-12. 
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Supp. 2d 451, 462-63 (D. Md. 2004) (holding FTC complaint adequately alleged common 

enterprise).  

CONCLUSION 
 

 For the foregoing reasons, the Court should deny Defendants’ motions to dismiss. 

Dated:  July 21, 2008 Respectfully submitted, 
/S/ JANIS CLAIRE KESTENBAUM  
JANIS CLAIRE KESTENBAUM 
   (Special Bar No. A5501213) 
ROBERTO ANGUIZOLA 
   (Special Bar No. 0616761) 
ARTURO DECASTRO 
   (Special Bar No. A5501231) 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, H-286 
Washington, DC  20580 
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